Constitution of the Georgia Political Science Association

Article I

The organization shall be known as the Georgia Political Science Association, Inc.

Article II

The purpose of the Association shall be to encourage understanding of and to improve instruction in Political Science through discussion and research and to foster better relations among members of the faculties of Georgia universities, colleges, and secondary schools, and between government officials and teachers of Political Science.

Article III

Any person interested in the Association's purposes and programs may become a member by paying the current membership dues. Equal voting privileges shall belong to all dues paying members. The rate and apportionment of dues shall be set by proposal of the Board of Directors and approval by the voting membership at a called meeting.

Article IV

Section 1. The officers and terms shall consist of the following:

- 1a. President
- 1b. Vice-President,
- 1c. Secretary-Treasurer,
- 1d. Development Coordinator,
- 1e: Director of Communications,
- 1f: Teaching and Learning Coordinator,
- 1g: Program Chair,

1h: and six additional members who shall constitute the Board of Directors. Six members shall be elected from the membership of the Georgia Political Science Association.

- 1i: The Editor(s) of *Questions in Politics* and the immediate past president shall serve as exofficio members of the Board of Directors.
- 1j: The terms of the President, Vice President, and immediate past-President shall be for one year. The President shall be ineligible to serve in that office until the expiration of two years. The Vice President shall ascend to the presidency at the conclusion of the incumbent's term.
- 1k: The Treasurer, the Secretary, the Director of Communications, Development Coordinator and Teaching and Learning Coordinator shall be chosen for three-year terms and shall be eligible for reelection.
- 11: The Program Chair of the annual convention shall be chosen for a one-year term and shall be eligible for reelection. The current Program Chairs shall serve as a member of the Board of Directors, and the Program Chair-designate, when applicable, shall serve as an ex officio

member of the Board.

1n: The Editor(s) of *Questions in Politics* shall serve for three (3) years and shall be eligible for reelection.

10: The elected members of the Board of Directors shall be selected for two years and have staggered terms so that half shall rotate off each year. Each member assumes and leaves their office at the Conference Business Meeting in November.

1p. All officers shall be current members of the Association and shall be elected by the voting membership at the general business meeting of the annual convention.

Section 2. The responsibilities of officers shall be outlined in the Association's Bylaws.

Section 3. Any officer of the Association may be removed on petition of one-half of the members present at the general business meeting of the annual convention, when such petition shall be ratified by two-thirds of the members present. Furthermore, an officer of the Association may be removed at other times during the year when two-thirds of the Board of Directors recommends such removal. Vacancies in any office of the Board of Directors shall be filled on an interim basis through appointment by the President.

Article V

Section 1. The Association shall hold at least one meeting each year at a time and place determined by the President and Board of Directors. A mid-year meeting of the Board of Directors shall occur annually and shall require a quorum of officers to conduct business. All meetings shall conform to the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*.

Section 2. The Board of Directors shall conduct an executive session at the annual convention to determine the agenda of the general business meeting. Any member of the Association may submit agenda items to the President which must be received at least one week prior to the convention. Members may likewise forward agenda items to the President a week in advance of the mid-year meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Special meetings shall be called at the discretion of the President. Moreover, the President shall be required to call such meetings upon a demand of a majority of the officers or upon demand of ten members. The call for special meetings shall be issued by mail or electronic mail at least thirty days in advance of the session.

Article VI

Section 1. The committees of the Association shall consist of a Board of Directors and other committees as the membership shall establish from time to time.

Section 2. The Board of Directors shall be the governing authority of the Association when the membership is not in session. The Board of Directors shall be invested with all powers necessary and proper for the good governance of the Association. Any action of either the

President or the Board of Directors shall be subject to challenge at the general business meeting so long as placed on the agenda in a timely fashion. In all matters, the membership shall retain ultimate authority when meeting in a duly constituted fashion. The Board of Directors shall meet at the call of the President or of any two officers. A mid-year meeting of the Board of Directors shall occur annually.

Section 3. The President shall appoint interim committees as needed in the interest of the Association. Any expenditure of funds recommended by an interim committee shall require approval of the Board of Directors.

Article VII

Section 1. The Georgia Political Science Association, Inc. is the sole owner of the journal *Questions in Politics*.

Section 2. The journal's Editor shall be a member of the Association and shall serve as an *ex officio* member of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall nominate an Editor to the Association's membership for approval. The Editor shall be chosen for a three-year term and shall be eligible for reelection. The Editor shall appoint Associate Editors, an Editorial Board, and other officers of the journal. It is the responsibility of the Editor to inform the Board of Directors of these appointments. The Board of Directors retains the right to reject any appointments. These appointees shall serve at the pleasure of the Editor.

Section 3. It is the responsibility of the Editor to submit a budgetary request for the journal to the President for review by the Board of Directors. The Editor may only expend monies as approved by the Board.

Section 4. The Editor shall be responsible for ensuring the effective management of the journal and shall have discretion over its daily operation. The Editor shall submit only major policy changes, as determined by the officers of the Association, to the Board of Directors for ratification. The Editor shall make a report inclusive of budgetary requirements and appointments at the annual convention and at the mid-year meeting of the Board of Directors.

Article VIII

Section 1. The Georgia Political Science Association, Inc. is the sole owner of the following websites: gpsanet.org, gpsausa.org, and gpsa-online.org

Section 2. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the management of the websites.

Article IX

Amendments to this Constitution shall be proposed by the officers and the Board of Directors working together or by the petition of ten members, if received by the President one week prior to the annual convention. A three-fifths vote of those attending and voting at the general business meeting of the convention shall be required for ratification of a proposed amendment.

Article X

The Board of Directors may adopt, alter, amend, or repeal Bylaws of the Association. A majority of the current membership of the Board shall be sufficient to perform any of these actions.

Revised with corrections November 8, 2019. Amended November 8, 2024.